**STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

DEBORAH LYNN FOSTER,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v

RAY JAMES FOSTER

Defendant / Appellant / Counter-Plaintiff.

SCT Docket No.
COA Docket No. 324853
Circuit Court No. 07-15064-DM

APPLICATION FOR LEAVE TO APPEAL (AFTER REMAND)

NOTICE OF HEARING

Respectfully submitted by:

Carson J. Tucker (P62209)
Attorney for Petitioner
117 N. First St., Suite 111
Ann Arbor, MI 48104
(734) 887-9261
cjtucker@lexfori.org

STATEMENT OF ORDERS BEING APPEALED

Pursuant to MCR 7.305, Petitioner seeks leave to appeal the March 22, 2018 Opinion of the Court of Appeals (ATTACHMENT A, *Foster v Foster (On Remand)*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued March 22, 2018 (Docket No. 324853)), which was issued on remand from this Court's instructions to consider the unanimous opinion by the United States Supreme Court in *Howell v Howell*, 581 US ___; 137 S Ct 1400; 197 L Ed 2d 781 (2017).

Petitioner also seeks to appeal the March 14, 2018 order of the Court of Appeals denying Petitioner's Motion for a Stay and Termination of Bond. (ATTACHMENT B).

For purposes of issue preservation, Petitioner also seeks leave to appeal all prior rulings and opinions of the Court of Appeals (ATTACHMENT C, *Foster v Foster*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Court of Appeals, issued October 13, 2016 (Docket No. 324853)), significant portions of the latter of which were reprinted in and made a part of the remand opinion despite this Court's November 15, 2017 Order VACATING the Court of Appeals' original judgment.

This Court may exercise jurisdiction over Petitioner's application pursuant to MCR 7.303(B)(1).

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Pursuant to MCR 7.305(A)(1)(b) Petitioner presents the questions for review “related in concise terms to the facts of the case,” as follows:

I.

This case returns from the Court of Appeals after remand with instructions from this Court to consider the United States Supreme Court’s unanimous decision in *Howell v Howell*, 581 US ___; 137 S Ct 1400, 1405-1406; 197 L Ed 2d 781 (2017), which held state courts are preempted by federal law from requiring a retired military servicemember to reimburse or indemnify his or her former spouse in a marital property division in divorce proceedings for any financial losses suffered by the former spouse resulting from the servicemember’s post-judgment waiver of retired pay to receive veterans’ disability benefits to which he or she is entitled.

Did the Court of Appeals err in ruling that state courts in Michigan still have authority to do this notwithstanding the ruling in *Howell* by holding that Petitioner is required to indemnify Respondent when Petitioner waived his military retirement pay to receive Combat Related Special Compensation (CRSC) under 10 USC 1413a, a special compensation to which Petitioner is entitled due to his combat-related injuries and resulting disabilities, where such pay is not “disposable retired pay”, the latter of which is the only veteran’s benefit that can be considered as divisible marital property in state court divorce proceedings under the Uniform Services Former Spouses Protection Act (USFSPA), 10 USC 1408(a)(4)(A)(ii) and (c)(1)?

Petitioner Answers: Yes.

Respondent Answers: No.

Court of Appeals Answers: No.

II.

In *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1403-1404 and 1405, the Court held that state courts had always been preempted from considering any veterans’ benefits as divisible in marital property divisions in divorce proceedings except “disposable retired pay” under the USFSPA, 10 USC 1408(c)(1). The Court also stated that per 38 USC 5301(a)(1), state courts had no authority to “vest” these benefits in anyone other than the beneficiary, i.e., the veteran. *Id.* at 1405-1406. In *Mansell v Mansell*, 490 US 581, 587, n 6; 109 S Ct 2023; 104 L Ed 2d 675 (1989), because the Court held that the USFSPA preempted state courts from treating waived military retired pay as community property, the Court did not address whether 38 USC 3101 (later re-

designated as section 5301) independently protected other non-disposable veteran's benefits from state court orders dividing marital assets.

If, as the Court of Appeals held, CRSC benefits are not within the scope of benefits excluded from state court consideration as marital property under the USFSPA and *Howell v Howell*, 581 US ___; 137 S Ct 1400; 197 L Ed 2d 781 (2017) (a holding which Petitioner does not concede and explicitly challenges in this application, see Question Presented I, *supra*), does 38 USC 5301 independently protect these funds from the jurisdiction and authority of state court orders that have the effect of forcing the Petitioner to pay them over to Respondent as "reimbursement" or "indemnity" in enforcing a marital property settlement agreement?

Petitioner Answers: Yes.

Respondent Answers: No.

Court of Appeals Answers: No.

III. and IV.

Federal law preempts (and has always preempted) state courts from ordering veterans to pay non-disposable benefits in satisfying marital property settlements in divorce proceedings. See *McCarty v McCarty*, 453 US 210, 228-229 and n 22; 101 S Ct 2728; 69 L Ed 2d 589 (1981) and *Mansell v Mansell*, 490 US 581, 595; 109 S Ct 2023; 104 L Ed 2d 675 (1989). In *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1406, the Court held that this preexisting preemption applies to all veterans' disability payments, except for the veteran's "disposable retired pay," a share of which Respondent already receives from the Defense Finance and Accounting Service ("DFAS"). See 10 USC 1408(e)(1) ("[t]he total amount of the disposable retired pay of a member payable under all court orders pursuant to subsection (c) may not exceed 50 percent of such disposable retired pay."). The Court also held that state courts cannot enforce orders that seek to indemnify or reimburse the veteran's former spouse for the latter's loss of the veteran's military retired pay where the veteran is required by law to waive that pay to receive disability pay; "such reimbursement and indemnification orders displace the federal rule and stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the purposes and objectives of Congress." *Howell*, 137 S Ct at 1406. The Court also found that 38 USC 5301 independently protects such funds by prohibiting state courts from "vesting" entitlement to them in anyone other than the beneficiary. *Id.* at 1405-1406, citing 38 USC 5301(a)(1).

The plain language of section 5301 also prohibits any collateral arrangements from securing an obligation on an agreement by the veteran to pay non-disposable veterans' benefits to another. 38 USC 5301(a)(3)(C).

In addition, Michigan law provides that a "bond" and any security therefor, automatically terminates upon satisfaction of the condition upon which the bond is

based, and the liability stated therein is extinguished. See *DeMyer v McGonegal*, 32 Mich 120, 126 (1875) (GRAVES, J.); *Bruwer v Oaks (On Remand)*, 218 Mich App 392, 397; 554 NW2d 345 (1996); *Barresi v Barresi*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Michigan Court of Appeals, issued May 21, 2015 (Docket No. 319739), pp 3-4, citing *Bruwer, supra* and MCR 3.604(I)(1) (**ATTACHMENT D**) A state court has no authority to change or otherwise modify the bond once it has been satisfied. *DeMyer, supra; Bruwer, supra; Barresi, supra*.

Pursuant to the Circuit Court's November 6, 2014 contempt order, Petitioner has been paying his former spouse \$1000 per month from his only source of income – non-disposable veterans' disability benefits. (**ATTACHMENT E**, Circuit Court's November 6, 2014 Order) Plaintiff has now paid \$1000 per month for 46 months (**July 2014 through May 2018**), making the amount of his total payments to his former spouse \$46,000. This is \$10,602.57 more than the challenged arrearages of \$34,397.93 stated in the Circuit Court's order. See *id*.

These payments are secured by an "appearance bond" in the amount of \$9500 that had been posted on June 23, 2014, and which was secured with a lien on Petitioner's mother's home. (**ATTACHMENT F**, Bond and Circuit Court Docket Entries) On July 30, 2014, Petitioner's attorney filed an appearance and contested the contempt proceedings. *Id*.

The Circuit Court subsequently denied a motion for a stay of payments pending Petitioner's appeal and for termination of the bond, changing the condition of the bond to be one securing Petitioner's continued payments. (**ATTACHMENT G**, Circuit Court's Order Denying Stay, January 16, 2015; **ATTACHMENT H**, Circuit Court Hearing Memorandum, March 19, 2015)

On February 26, 2018, as Petitioner's case was on remand in the Court of Appeals, Petitioner, who is also a Counter-Plaintiff in this action claiming recoupment and reimbursement, sought an immediate stay of enforcement of the Circuit Court's order forcing him to continue making these payments from his non-disposable disability pay.

In this same motion, Petitioner also sought nullification or termination of the "appearance" bond and to nullify the related lien. The Court of Appeals denied Petitioner's motion. (**ATTACHMENT B**)

The questions presented related to these facts and circumstances are as follows:

III.

Did the Court of Appeals err in denying Petitioner's motion for a stay of his ongoing payments where Petitioner has already paid more than the challenged arrearages, all of which has been proven to be unauthorized and unlawful because the order

under which Petitioner was required to make these payments is and has always been preempted by federal law?

Petitioner Answers: Yes.

Respondent Answers: No.

Court of Appeals Answers: No.

IV.

Did the court of Appeals err in denying Petitioner's motion to nullify or terminate the bond where he filed an appearance, thereby satisfying the condition of the bond, and where both federal statutory law, 38 USC 5301(a)(C)(3) and Michigan law prohibit the continuation of the bond and the lien securing it?

Petitioner Answers: Yes.

Respondent Answers: No.

Court of Appeals Answers: No.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Sergeant First Class (SFC) (retired) Ray J. Foster, is a veteran of the Iraq war who served two tours of duty as a combat infantry platoon leader (November 2003 to April 2004 and November 2005 to November 2006). (ATTACHMENT I, Petitioner's US Army DD214) On September 30, 2007, he retired after 22 years and five months of active duty service. *Id.* He was awarded the Purple Heart and Bronze Star medals, among others, for his injuries and actions while serving. *Id.*

While serving as a platoon leader of his infantry unit, he suffered injuries as the result of an improvised explosive device ("IED") attack on his convoy. (ATTACHMENT J, VA Medical Records – Evidence of Injury and Condition) His injuries included traumatic brain injury ("TBI"), back and leg injuries, and other physical and mental injuries. *Id.* Petitioner also suffers from severe post-traumatic stress syndrome ("PTSD"). *Id.*

Due to his service-connected injuries, Petitioner is classified as a 100-percent disabled, 100-percent unemployable veteran. As his injuries were incurred during combat, Petitioner qualified for and was awarded Combat-Related Special Compensation ("CRSC") under 10 USC 1413a, retroactive to 2007. (ATTACHMENT K, CRSC Benefits Award Letters)

After his retirement, Petitioner and Respondent were divorced. On December 3, 2008 a judgment of divorce was entered that required Petitioner to pay Respondent 50% of his military retired pay as part of a Property Settlement. (ATTACHMENT L, pp 4-5). The order stated, in pertinent part, as follows:

If [Petitioner] *should ever become disabled*, either partially or in whole, then [Respondent's] share of [Petitioner's] entitlement shall be calculated *as if [Petitioner] had not become disabled*. [Petitioner] shall be responsible to pay, directly to [Respondent], *the sum to which she would be entitled if [Petitioner] had not become disabled*. [Petitioner] shall pay this sum to [Respondent] out of his own pocket and earnings, *whether he is paying that sum from his disability pay or*

*otherwise, even if the military refuses to pay those sums directly to [Respondent]. If the military merely reduces, but does not entirely stop, direct payment to [Respondent], [Petitioner] shall be responsible to pay directly to [Respondent] any decrease in pay that [Respondent] should have been awarded had [Petitioner] not become disabled, together with any Cost of Living increases that [Respondent] would have received had [Petitioner] not become disabled. Failure of [Petitioner] to pay these amounts is *punishable through all contempt powers of the Court.**

[*Id.* (emphasis added).]

In January of 2009, the Defense Finance and Accounting Service (“DFAS”) notified Petitioner that it was paying Respondent her share of his disposable retired pay under 10 USC 1408, the Uniform Services Former Spouses Protection Act (USFSPA). (ATTACHMENT M, Letter to Petitioner Notifying of DFAS Payments to Respondent, January 27, 2009). At this time, Respondent was receiving \$811.62 per month, which represented 50% of Petitioner’s disposable military retired pay. (ATTACHMENT E, November 6, 2014 Order)

In February of 2010, Respondent began receiving only \$212.00 from DFAS. In April 2010, DFAS notified Respondent that because of Petitioner’s waiver of military retired pay to receive his disability and CRSC pay, it had reduced the amount of disposable military retired pay that she was receiving pursuant to the USFSPA (ATTACHMENT N, Letter to Respondent Notifying of Payment Reduction, April 14, 2010).

Respondent filed a motion seeking enforcement of the Circuit Court’s 2008 Judgment, claiming, per the terms of the judgment’s marital property settlement, that Petitioner was responsible to make up the difference between what she had been receiving from DFAS and what she was then receiving due to the DFAS reduction. See ATTACHMENT L, pp. 4-5. The trial court entered an order finding Petitioner in contempt and ordered him to pay Respondent the difference.

In the Spring of 2014, Petitioner was arrested on a bench warrant for failure to make these payments to Respondent. On June 23, 2014, an appearance bond of \$9500 was posted and a show cause hearing was set for June 27, 2014. (ATTACHMENT F, Bond and Circuit Court Docket Entries) Collateral for the bond is a lien being held by the bonding company, Great Lakes Bail Bonds, on Petitioner's ailing mother's home. *Id.*

On July 30, 2014, Petitioner's trial attorney, Michael Gawecki, filed an appearance on Petitioner's behalf in the Circuit Court and filed an objection to the proposed contempt order. *Id.*, Trial Court Docket Entries No. 86-94. The Circuit Court entered a contempt order on November 14, 2014. (ATTACHMENT E, Circuit Court's November 6, 2014 Order)

On December 2, 2014, Petitioner timely appealed. On December 22, 2014, while Petitioner's appeal was already pending in the Court of Appeals, the Circuit Court held a hearing on a motion to stay Petitioner's payment obligations and to terminate the bond. (ATTACHMENT O, December 22, 2014 Hearing Transcript, pp. 3-4; 13-17) The Circuit Court concluded it did not have jurisdiction because the appeal had been filed and denied Petitioner's motion to stay his payment obligations and to terminate the bond. *Id.* See also ATTACHMENTS G and H.

On appeal, Petitioner argued, *inter alia*, that state courts were preempted by federal law from ordering veterans to indemnify former spouses for financial losses resulting from the veteran's waiver of retired pay to receive disability pay. Petitioner also argued that 38 USC 5301 independently protected his veterans' benefits from any legal process whatever, and the Circuit Court simply did not have jurisdiction or authority to order or otherwise force him to part with these monies, which are his only source of income. See Petitioner's Brief on Appeal, filed July 1, 2015 (citing, *inter alia*, 10 USC 1408, 38 USC 5301(a)(1) and (a)(3)(A); *McCarty v McCarty*, 453 US 210, 211-215; 101 S Ct 2728; 69 L Ed 2d 589 (1981); *Mansell v Mansell*, 490 US 581, 587, n

6; 109 S Ct 2023; 104 L Ed 2d 675 (1989); *King v King*, 149 Mich App 495, 499-500; 386 NW2d 562 (1986)) and Petitioner's Reply Brief, filed November 3, 2015.

Petitioner also specifically argued that the bond (which is secured by a lien on Petitioner's mother's home) violated 38 USC 5301(a)(3)(C), which prohibits and voids from inception "[a]ny agreement for collateral for security for an agreement" prohibited by that subsection. Brief on Appeal, p. 18. Finally, as Counter-Plaintiff-Appellant, Petitioner claimed an entitlement to recoupment and reimbursement of these funds that he has been paying per the Circuit Court's November 6, 2014 Order. *Id.*

On October 13, 2016, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming the Circuit Court's orders. (**ATTACHMENT C**, *Foster v Foster*, unpublished opinion per curiam of the Michigan Court of Appeals, issued October 13, 2016 (Docket No. 324853) (MARKEY, P.J., and MURPHY and RONAYNE KRAUSE, JJ.). Relying on *Megee v Carmine*, 290 Mich App 551, 562; 802 NW2d 669 (2010) (MURPHY, C.J, and METER and SHAPIRO, JJ), in which the issue addressed was "whether a military spouse remains financially responsible to compensate his or her former spouse in an amount equal to the share of retirement pay ordered to be distributed to the former spouse as part of a divorce judgment's property division where the military spouse makes a unilateral postjudgment election to waive the retirement pay in favor of disability benefits contrary to the terms of the divorce judgment," the panel held:

[A] military spouse remains financially responsible to compensate his or her former spouse in an amount equal to the share of retirement pay ordered to be distributed to the former spouse as part of a divorce judgment's property division when the military spouse makes a unilateral and voluntary postjudgment election to waive the retirement pay in favor of disability benefits contrary to the terms of the divorce judgment. Conceptually, and consistently with extensive case law from other jurisdictions, we are dividing waived retirement pay in order to honor the terms and intent of the divorce judgment. Importantly, we are not ruling that a state court has authority to divide a military spouse's CRSC, nor that the military spouse can be ordered by a court to pay the former spouse using CRSC funds. Rather, the

compensation to be paid the former spouse as his or her share of the property division in lieu of the waived retirement pay can come from any source the military spouse chooses, but it must be paid to avoid contempt of court. To be clear, nothing in this opinion should be construed as precluding a military spouse from using CRSC funds to satisfy the spouse's obligation if desired. [*Megee*, 290 Mich App at 566-567, 574-575 (footnote omitted).]

Megee governs and dictates, given the involvement of CRSC, that the offset provision in the consent divorce judgment is fully enforceable through the trial court's contempt powers. Defendant attempts to distinguish *Megee* on the basis that, because of the retroactive nature of the CRSC award, he effectively became entitled to and elected CRSC and waived retirement pay *prior* to entry of the divorce judgment, whereas *Megee* concerned a unilateral, *postjudgment* election to waive retirement pay and opt for CRSC. Defendant's argument construes *Megee* much too narrowly and misses the broader legal principle that emanates from *Megee*, which is that a state divorce court has the authority to divide waived retirement pay, which waiver resulted from a veteran's decision to elect CRSC, so long as the court does not directly order payment from CRSC funds.^[1] Thus, assuming for the sake of argument that defendant's waiver of retirement pay and election of CRSC must be treated as having already occurred when the divorce judgment was entered, the offset provision contemplating the division of waived retirement benefits was nonetheless valid and enforceable under *Megee*.

[**ATTACHMENT C**, pp. 4-5 (emphasis in original) (footnote in brackets).]

Regarding Petitioner's argument that 38 USC 5301 prohibited the Circuit Court from exercising authority and jurisdiction over his VA benefits, the Court of Appeals first asserted that Petitioner had waived this argument because it was undeveloped in the pleadings.² Yet, the Court went on to address the substantive merits, stating:

¹ The contempt order does not require payment from CRSC funds, nor do we construe the divorce judgment's offset provision as ordering payment from CRSC funds, and any such construction must be avoided.

² Bafflingly, the Court of Appeals ruled that Petitioner's arguments concerning 38 USC 5301 were "*woefully undeveloped*" and had been waived. **ATTACHMENT C**, p. 5 (emphasis added). Yet, Petitioner raised these arguments in his Docketing Statement filed with the Court of Appeals on April 2, 2015; in his Brief on Appeal in his first, second, and third questions presented, and in the first and second argument sections (see Brief on Appeal, filed July 1, 2015, Table of Contents, Argument and Analysis, section I and section II, page ii; Questions Presented I, II, and III, pages v and vi; Argument I, pages 5 through 8; and Argument II, pages 11 through 14. Petitioner expounded upon these arguments in his Reply brief. See Petitioner's Reply, November 3, 2015,

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