STATE OF MICHIGAN
IN THE SUPREME COURT

DEBORAH LYNN FOSTER,

Plaintiff/Appellee,

v

RAY JAMES FOSTER

Defendant / Appellant / Counter-Plaintiff.

SCT Docket No. 157705
COA Docket No. 324853
Circuit Court No. 07-15064-DM

**APPELLANT'S REPLY TO POST-ORAL ARGUMENT AMICUS CURIAE BRIEF OF
THE FAMILY LAW SECTION OF THE STATE BAR OF MICHIGAN**

Respectfully submitted by:

Carson J. Tucker (P62209)
Attorney for Appellant
117 N. First St., Suite 111
Ann Arbor, MI 48104
(734) 887-9261
cjtucker@lexfori.org

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

“[T]he fundamental purpose of the Supremacy Clause is to establish the priority of federal rights ‘*whenever* they come into conflict with state law.’” *Babich*, *The Supremacy Clause, Cooperative Federalism, and the Full Federal Regulatory Purpose*, 64 Admin L Rev 1 (Winter 2012), p 7 (emphasis added), quoting *Golden State Transit Corp v City of LA*, 493 US 103, 107; 110 S Ct 444; 107 L Ed 2d 420 (1989). Undoubtedly, the circuit court in this case had jurisdiction over the general subject matter of the divorce. However, it had no jurisdiction to order a diversion of Appellant’s disability benefits, because it had no authority to contravene federal law concerning

the disposition of these federally protected property rights. See Freeman, *supra*, § 354, p 733 (stating “[i]t is very easy to conceive of judgments which, though entered in cases over which the court had undoubted jurisdiction, are void because *they decided questions which it had no power to decide, or granted some relief which it had no power to grant....*”) (emphasis added)

This Court has long held where federal law occupies the field and preempts state law, “[t]he State courts are without jurisdiction in the most elementary sense.” *Town & Country Motors Inc*, 355 Mich at 54-55. Speaking directly to contempt orders based on federally preempted orders, this Court continued:

The order of the court being void for want of jurisdiction over the subject matter, we cannot remit to such court the fruitless task of ascertaining whether or not certain acts of the defendants constituted a “contempt” of the void order.

[*Id.*]

Federal preemption implicates the question of subject matter jurisdiction. *Henry*, 495 Mich at 287, n 82. Indeed, while state courts in Michigan have assumed jurisdiction to litigate disputes in which the issue of federal preemption has arisen, when such preemption is found to apply, the lower court is deemed not to have had authority to issue a contrary ruling. *Id.* In such cases, an inquiry must always be had of the jurisdiction of the court to exercise authority over the subject about which the issue turns. *Thompson v Whitman*, 85 US 457, 462; 21 L Ed 897 (1873). Accord *Henry, supra*. Upon a determination that the lower court lacked such authority, the ruling is void and must be annulled. Cooley, *Constitutional Limitations* (7th ed) (1903), pp 575-576.

As this Court has ruled on multiple occasions, where federal law preempts state law, state courts have no authority to enter a contravening judgment. *Town & Country Motors*, 355 Mich at 54-55. To the extent that they do so, such judgments, and any orders based on such judgments, are of no effect and therefore void *ab initio*. Cooley, *supra*.

To be sure, some state courts have respected the proper boundaries of their authority in this subject matter, even before *Howell*, and they have directly addressed the unique circumstances where preemptive federal law is raised (even after the time for appeal has passed) to collaterally attack a prior agreement to divide indivisible veterans' disability pay. As early as 1981, the Supreme Court of Texas addressed whether a state court divorce decree wherein a veteran agreed to divest himself of protected veterans' disability benefits could be collaterally attacked. *Ex Parte Burson*, 615 SW2d 192 (1981). With respect to these specific benefits, which are the same as those at issue here, the Court held that the former spouse was not entitled to receive these benefits and discharged the veteran from being held in contempt. The Court reasoned:

A district court, under our decisions, has the power to enforce a decree ordering a spouse to make payments out of the Air Force disability retirement pay. If there is no appeal from the divorce court's division of the property, that decree may not be collaterally attacked....

[V]eterans Administration benefits, unlike Air Force disability retirement benefits, are not divisible or assignable. They are not property. 38 USC § 3101 [now § 5301]

The trial court, at the contempt hearing, while recognizing the statutory distinction between...retirement disability pay and Veterans Administration benefits, concluded that Burson could not by his voluntary act defeat the force of the divorce decree that had adjudicated community property as it existed and had vested at the time of the divorce....

Military retirement pay, even after it is a vested right and a part of the community, under federal law, is subject to defeasance. This defeasance may occur through the service person's breach of good conduct, by his death, or by the service person's waiver of the retirement pay....

We now hold that a divorce decree cannot prohibit Burson from doing that which the federal law properly gave him a right to do.

Veterans Administration benefits are not divisible property.... [T]he federal supremacy clause and congressional intent will not permit the frustration of a federal law which grants benefits as a gratuity. Federal preemption of veterans benefits for disability does not leave room for their defeat, either by implication nor indirection.

[*Ex parte Burson*, 615 SW2d 192, 196 (Tex, 1981) (internal citations omitted)]

Consider also the conclusion reached by the Supreme Court of Nebraska in *Ryan v Ryan*, 600 NW2d 739; 257 Neb 682 (Neb 1999). There, the former spouse and the veteran were divorced in 1986. The judgment, as in this case, required the veteran to pay his VA disability to his former spouse so long as he received such income. *Id.* at 741-42. The veteran subsequently challenged that part of the judgment requiring him to pay half of his disability pay to his former spouse and requested a new trial. *Id.* The district court denied the veteran's motion. Over two years later, the veteran was in arrears in the amount of \$4,489.50. The district court ordered that, going forward, the veteran's wages be garnished in an amount equal to the half payments he was obligated to make in the original judgment. In a subsequent hearing, the district court determined that the veteran was still in arrears, but modified the amount of the monthly payment downwards to reflect a decrease in the veteran's disability pay.

Eight years later, the former spouse filed a motion to show cause why the veteran should not be held in contempt for refusing to comply with the district court's order to pay her half of his disability pay. The district court granted the motion to show cause and ordered the veteran to appear. The veteran filed a responsive pleading asserting that the original divorce judgment requiring him to split his VA disability income was preempted by federal law. *Id.* The district court agreed and concluded that the veteran did not owe any arrearages under the terms of the divorce decree. *Id.* at 743.

As in this case, the former spouse asserted that the doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel foreclosed the district court's jurisdiction and authority to cancel the veteran's obligation. *Id.* The former spouse argued that the veteran could have asserted federal preemption at any of the prior hearings during the nearly 10 years of legal proceedings encompassing the parties' divorce

case. *Id.* at 744. Further, the former spouse contended that the original divorce judgment was final on the merits in a court of competent jurisdiction, which barred future litigation of issues that were or could have been litigated. *Id.*

The Supreme Court of Nebraska affirmed the district court. It held that collateral estoppel did not bar the challenge “if the forum in which the first action was brought did not have jurisdiction to adjudicate the action; stated another way, judgments entered by a court *without subject matter jurisdiction are void and subject to collateral attack.*” *Id.* (emphasis added), citing 50 CJS Judgments, § 702 (1997) (emphasis added) (some internal citations omitted). The Court continued:

[J]udgments entered by a court without subject matter jurisdiction are void and subject to collateral attack.

In keeping with that, the longstanding rule in Nebraska is that a void judgment may be attacked at any time in any proceeding. Likewise, a district court has the power to question sua sponte at any time its statutory authority to exercise subject matter jurisdiction.

Because res judicata does not bar collateral attacks on void judgments, the outcome of this issue hinges on whether the district court had subject matter jurisdiction to divide Howard’s VA disability income. As illustrated by our foregoing analysis, if the district court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to divide the VA disability income, then that portion of the order dividing such income was void and subject to collateral attack in any subsequent enforcement action.

The question of a court’s subject matter jurisdiction does not turn solely on the court’s authority to hear a certain class of cases, such as dissolutions of marriage or accounting actions; it also involves determining *whether a court is authorized to address a particular question that it assumes to decide or to grant the particular relief requested.*

It is well established that military retirement benefits cannot constitute divisible marital property except to the extent permitted by the Uniformed Services Former Spouses’ Protection Act (USFSPA). Disability benefits, such as Howard’s are not divisible marital property under the USFSPA.

The question whether the decree is subject to collateral attack, therefore, turns on an examination of the nature of the federal law on this point. Specifically, we must determine if federal law operates to preclude state courts from exercising subject matter jurisdiction over disability-based military retirement benefits.

[*Ryan v Ryan*, 600 NW2d 739, 744-746; 257 Neb. 682 (Neb. 1999) (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted)]

After discussing the absolute preemption of federal law from *McCarty*, the USFSPA, and *Mansell*, the Court concluded:

Based on the preemptive effect of the USFSPA, we conclude that federal law precludes a state court, in a dissolution proceeding, from exercising subject matter jurisdiction over VA disability benefits. Therefore, in the instant case, that portion of the decree purporting to divide Howard’s VA disability income is void for want of jurisdiction. Sharon’s assignment of error on this point is without merit.

[*Ryan v Ryan*, 600 NW2d 739, 744-746; 257 Neb. 682 (Neb. 1999) (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted)]

More recently, the Kansas Court of Appeals addressed the question, post-*Howell*. *In re Babin*, 437 P 3d 985; 56 Kan App 2d 709 (2019). First, addressing the situation in the present case, the Court recognized that unlike military retirement pay, “military disability benefits cannot be classified as marital property subject to division and are instead treated as the retiree’s separate property.” *Id.* at 989, citing *In re Marriage of Pierce*, 26 Kan App 2d 236, 240; 982 P 2d 995 (1999) and including the parenthetical: “state district courts *have no jurisdiction over military disability benefits*”. (emphasis added). The Court summarized prior cases in Kansas:

Although the state courts cannot generally divide disability pay, in this instance the recipient former spouse argued that it was divisible because *the veteran had expressly agreed to do so in a settlement agreement*. The district court ruled the veteran spouse in contempt for failure to turn over additional amounts of his disability pay... A panel of this court remanded the matter, holding that the district court failed to take 10 USC § 1408 and *Mansell* into account regarding jurisdiction. The court held that “the district court made an error of law in not considering and making appropriate conclusions of law regarding the jurisdictional implications of this federal statute.”

[*Id.* at 990 (internal citations omitted)]

The Court explained the pre-*Howell* state cases and *Howell*’s rejection of them:

Since *Mansell* resulted in a harsh result for some former spouses of veterans, throughout the years many state courts have found ways to distinguish the facts of cases from those in *Mansell*. For example, the Virginia Court of Appeals determined that an agreement to provide a certain percentage of retirement pay to a former spouse— along with an indemnification provision— allowed the district court to enforce the agreement by ordering payment from other sources other than disability pay. The Idaho Court of Appeals determined that a property settlement agreement that fixed a certain dollar amount from military pay can be enforced even if the disability pay later reduces the retirement pay as long as the court orders the payment from other sources. The Florida Supreme Court held that even though *Mansell* prohibited the district court from dividing disability benefits, it did not prohibit the voluntary assignment of such benefits under the terms of a settlement agreement.

In response to the state courts' differing interpretations of *Mansell*, the United States Supreme Court readdressed the preemptive effect of the Act in *Howell*. In *Howell*, the divorce decree awarded 50% of a veteran's future military retired pay to his former spouse. As is often the case, years later the veteran waived a portion of his retired pay in favor of disability benefits, thereby reducing the former spouse's award. The nonmilitary former spouse sought to enforce the decree in order to restore the amount of her share of the veteran's retired pay. The Arizona court concluded that the former spouse had received a vested interest in the original decree and ordered the veteran to make up the difference lost due to the disability waiver. The Arizona court ruled that federal law did not preempt the court's order. The United States Supreme Court reversed the Arizona court, holding that a state court may not order a veteran to indemnify a divorced spouse for the loss in the divorced spouse's portion of the veteran's retirement pay caused by the veteran's waiver of retirement pay to receive service-related disability benefits. The Supreme Court stated that the district court could not vest the former spouse with that which it lacked the authority to give. The *Howell* Court also specifically rejected the argument that a nonmilitary spouse can be reimbursed or indemnified if disability pay is obtained, as these rulings displace the purpose of the statute and are an obstacle to the purposes and objectives of Congress. Although *Howell* involved a divorce decree and not a property settlement agreement, the Supreme Court expressly stated that it was abrogating several cases dealing with property settlement agreements. And significantly, the Court impliedly endorsed *Mansell* and its restriction on using a property settlement agreement to divide pay. *The Court overruled cases relying on the sanctity of contract to escape federal preemption.*

Roslyn's contentions rely almost exclusively on contractual arguments. She asserts that Nickey agreed to give her 43% of his disability benefits as part of a mediation agreement, and he could voluntarily allocate a portion of his disability payments to her. She asserts it is "no more objectionable than it would be if he decided to use that disability payment to buy groceries and gas at the local convenience store." Roslyn asserts that "[o]nly if the holding in *Howell* is construed so as to prevent a service member from spending his or her disability pay as he or she deems fit, would

the action of the trial court below be subject to reversal.” Although creative, we believe this argument does not follow the intent of Congress, which is to ensure that the disability benefit goes to the support of the veteran, not to the support of others. We are convinced that the division of Nickey’s disability compensation—*even through a mediated settlement agreement*—is simply not permitted by federal law. The *district court lacked jurisdiction to order such a division of benefits*, especially over Nickey’s objection to the division of property. *The district court’s ruling that Nickey contracted away his right to his full disability pay must be reversed*. The Act does not allow for the treatment of disability compensation as marital property, and it specifically excludes from marital property those amounts of retired pay that are waived in favor of disability compensation. 10 USC § 1408(a)(4)(A). In *Howell*, the Supreme Court held that state courts “cannot ‘vest’ that which (under governing federal law) they lack the authority to give.” Military disability compensation is not among the military benefits that may be divided as marital property, and the district court lacked jurisdiction to enforce such a division of property.

[*Id.* at 990-991 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).]

CONCLUSION

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